SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Supreme Court No. 90850 - 8

(Court of Appeals No. 70423-1-I)

JUDY HA, Petitioner,

v.

SIGNAL ELECTRIC, INC., Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW



Douglas C. McDermott, WSBA #31500 MCDERMOTT NEWMAN, PLLC 1001 Fourth Avenue, Suite 3200 Seattle, Washington 98154 Telephone: (206) 749-9296

Facsimile: (206) 749-9467

Attorneys for Petitioner Judy Ha

I. INTRODUCTION

On July 14, 2014, in a published opinion, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's decision to vacate an order of default and a default judgment against respondent Signal Electric, Inc. ("Signal Electric") even though Signal Electric's attorney had accepted service of process on his client's behalf, Signal Electric's attorney was aware of the default proceedings against his client, Signal Electric's attorney allowed entry of the default, and Signal Electric waited almost 8 months after its attorney received the order of default, and 86 days after its attorney received the default judgment, before moving to vacate.

The Court of Appeals affirmed under CR 60(b)(1), reasoning that (1) Signal Electric demonstrated a *prima facie* defense, (2) Signal Electric's failure to answer was due to mistake, (3) Signal Electric acted with due diligence in moving to vacate, and (4) petitioner Ms. Ha would not suffer substantial hardship if the order of default and the default judgment were vacated. In doing so, however, the Court of Appeals misinterpreted and misapplied several well-established rules governing requests for relief from orders and judgments under CR 60(b)(1). The Court of Appeals also carved out a new exception to the rule that the incompetence or neglect of a party's own attorney is not sufficient grounds for relief from a judgment in a civil action, holding for the first time that this rule does not apply in cases involving defaults, which is contrary to the approach taken by the vast majority of federal courts that have addressed this specific issue, including

the Ninth Circuit. Accordingly, there are five reasons why this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4).

First, the decision by the Court of Appeals conflicts with *TMT Bear Creek Shopping Ctr., Inc. v. Petco Animal Supplies, Inc.*, 140 Wn. App. 191, 212-213, 165 P.3d 1271 (2007), where the court ruled that when a company's failure to respond to a properly served summons and complaint is due to a breakdown of internal office procedure, it is not excusable under CR 60(b)(1).

Second, the decision by the Court of Appeals conflicts with *Brooks* v. *University City, Inc.*, 154 Wn. App. 474, 477-80, 225 P.3d 489 (2010), where Division Three specifically clarified that a registered agent's failure to forward process to the correct person does not qualify as a mistake or excusable neglect for purposes of vacating a default under CR 60(b)(1).

Third, the decision by the Court of Appeals conflicts with *Haller v. Wallis*, 89 Wn.2d 539, 547, 573 P.2d 1302 (1978), where this Court ruled that the incompetence or neglect of a party's own attorney is not sufficient grounds for relief from a judgment in a civil action under CR 60(b)(1).

Fourth, the decision by the Court of Appeals conflicts with *In re Estate of Stevens*, 94 Wn. App. 20, 35, 971 P.2d 58 (1999) and *Gutz v. Johnson*, 128 Wn. App. 901, 909, 117 P.3d 390 (2005), where Division Two ruled that a party that fails to take steps to address an order of default or a default judgment for approximately 3 months or longer has not acted with due diligence in responding to the default, and is therefore precluded from having the default vacated under CR 60(b)(1).

Fifth, this petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. Namely, whether an attorney's knowledge is imputed to his client, and whether an attorney's acts and omissions are binding on his client, in the context of default proceedings, such that the incompetence or neglect of a party's own attorney cannot constitute grounds for relief from an order of default or a default judgment under CR 60(b)(1).

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is Judy Ha, plaintiff below and appellant at the Court of Appeals.

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of the published opinion filed on July 14, 2014 by the State of Washington Court of Appeals, Division One, in Case No. 70423-1-I. A copy of the opinion is included in Appendix 1.

Petitioner filed a timely Motion for Reconsideration of the opinion on August 1, 2014. The Motion for Reconsideration was denied on August 19, 2014. A copy of the Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration is included in Appendix 2.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did Signal Electric fail to provide substantial evidence supporting a *prima facie* defense to Ms. Ha's claims when Signal Electric made only conclusory allegations that others were liable without precisely setting out the facts that constitute a complete defense or absolve it of liability in this case?

- 2. Was Signal Electric's failure to answer the result of inexcusable neglect (as opposed to mistake, inadvertence, or excusable neglect) when (1) Signal Electric's attorney accepted service of process on his client's behalf, (2) Signal Electric's attorney was aware of the default proceedings against his client, and (3) Signal Electric's attorney allowed entry of the order of default and the default judgment?
- 3. Did Signal Electric fail to act with due diligence when it waited almost 8 months after its attorney received the order of default, and 86 days after its attorney received the default judgment, before moving to vacate?
- 4. Would Ms. Ha suffer hardship if the order of default and the default judgment were vacated and she was forced to litigate her claims against a company that has since gone bankrupt and may not have access to the evidence she will need to prove her claims at trial?
- 5. Is an attorney's knowledge imputed to his client, and are an attorney's acts and omissions binding on his client, in the context of default proceedings, such that the incompetence and/or neglect of a party's own attorney cannot constitute grounds for relief from an order of default or a default judgment under CR 60(b)(1)?
- 6. With these facts in the record, did the trial court err in granting Signal Electric's motion to vacate the order of default and the default judgment?

7. With these facts in the record, did the Court of Appeals err in affirming under CR 60(b)(1) the trial court's decision to vacate the order of default and the default judgment against Signal Electric?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Accident

On October 28, 2010, Ms. Ha attended a concert at AEG Live NW, LLC, d/b/a Showbox SODO ("Showbox"), which is located at 1700 1st Avenue South in Seattle, Washington. (CP 3-4, 14-15, and 94.) When the concert ended at approximately 10:45 p.m., Ms. Ha exited the Showbox and walked to the southeast corner of 1st Avenue South and South Massachusetts Street, where construction work was taking place. (CP 3-4, 14-15, and 94.) The construction work was being performed by Signal Electric. (CP 3, 15, and 94.)

Ms. Ha and others began walking westbound across 1st Avenue South. (CP 4, 15, and 94.) While they were crossing, a vehicle driven by Juanita Mars approached the intersection, failed to stop, and struck Ms. Ha and several other people in the crosswalk. (CP 4, 15-16, and 94-95.) Ms. Ha suffered extensive injuries and incurred \$197,511.22 in medical expenses as a result of the accident. (CP 95-97 and 119-22.)

B. Signal Electric's Bankruptcy

On February 26, 2011, Signal Electric filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy. (CP 98-99, 134, and 327.) Signal Electric retained J. Todd Tracy at Crocker Law Group, PLLC ("Crocker Law Group") as its bankruptcy counsel, and Signal Electric filed an application with the

bankruptcy court requesting approval of Mr. Tracy's appointment as its bankruptcy counsel. (CP 99, 134-35, 327, 357-61, and 363-64.) In the application, Mr. Tracy agreed to render the following services:

- a. To take all actions necessary to protect and preserve Debtor's bankruptcy estate, including the prosecution of actions on Debtor's behalf. To undertake, in conjunction as appropriate with special litigation counsel, the defense of any action commenced against Debtor, negotiations concerning litigation in which Debtor is involved, objections to claims filed against Debtor in this bankruptcy case, and the compromise or settlement of claims.
- b. To prepare the necessary applications, motions, memoranda, responses, complaints, answers, orders, notices, reports, and other papers required from Debtor as debtor-in-possession in connection with administration of this case.

...

d. To provide such other legal advice or services as may be required in connection with the Chapter 11 case.

(CP 99, 134-35, 327, 357-61, and 363-64.)

The bankruptcy court ultimately approved the appointment of Mr. Tracy and Crocker Law Group on these terms. (CP 363-64.) The bankruptcy court also approved the appointment of Louise Tieman, a principal at vcfo, as Signal Electric's financial advisor in the bankruptcy case. (CP 298-99.)

C. The Lawsuit

On February 24, 2012, Ms. Ha filed a Complaint for Damages alleging claims against Ms. Mars, the Showbox, the City of Seattle, and Signal Electric. (CP 1-9 and 97.) On March 1, Ms. Ha filed a First Amended Complaint for Damages that corrected Ms. Mars's legal name and aliases, but otherwise alleged the same claims. (CP 12-20 and 97.)

D. Service of Process

Ms. Ha completed service of process on Ms. Mars, the Showbox, and the City of Seattle in early March 2012, and all three defendants answered the complaint. (CP 21-63.) Ms. Ha could not complete service of process on Signal Electric, however, because Chapter 11 bankruptcy imposes an automatic stay on all collection efforts against the debtor. (CP 98-99, 134, and 327.)

On April 26, 2012, Ms. Ha filed a motion with the bankruptcy court seeking relief from the stay. (CP 99, 134, and 327.) The court granted Ms. Ha's motion and allowed her to proceed against Signal Electric for the purpose of establishing Signal Electric's liability for the accident and collecting the proceeds of any applicable insurance policy that might satisfy a portion of Ms. Ha's claims. (CP 165-66 and 354-55.)

After obtaining relief from the bankruptcy stay, Ms. Ha asked Mr. Tracy if he would accept service of process on Signal Electric's behalf. (CP 99, 134-35, and 327.) At the time, Signal Electric's registered agent was in poor health. (CP 287-88.) Accordingly, Mr. Tracy spoke to Ms. Tieman by telephone about whether he should accept service for Signal Electric, and they both agreed that he should. (CP 287-88.)

On July 11, 2012, Mr. Tracy executed an acceptance of service, wherein he verified as follows:

I, J. Todd Tracy, am one of the attorneys representing defendant Signal Electric, Inc. ("Signal Electric") in the above-captioned lawsuit, and I have the authority to accept and/or waive service of process on its behalf.

On July 11, 2012, I received a Summons directed to Signal Electric and a copy of the Complaint in the above-captioned lawsuit. Signal Electric hereby agrees that delivery of the Summons and the Complaint to me constitutes proper service of process, and that service of process upon Signal Electric was completed on July 11, 2012. In doing so, Signal Electric hereby waives any and all defenses related to the sufficiency of process, the sufficiency of service of process, and personal jurisdiction.

(CP 88-89, 170-71, and 477-78.)

Mr. Tracy then forwarded the summons and complaint to Ms. Tieman, who sent the papers to Alaska National Insurance. (CP 291-94.) Ms. Tieman believed that Alaska National Insurance was Signal Electric's insurer at the time of the accident. (CP 291-94.) Alaska National Insurance, however, did not contact Ms. Tieman or anyone else at Signal Electric about the lawsuit. (CP 291-94.) Ms. Tieman later learned that Berkley North Pacific, not Alaska National Insurance, was Signal Electric's insurer at the time of the accident. (CP 291-94.)

E. Order of Default Against Signal Electric

On August 1, 2012, Ms. Ha's counsel, Doug McDermott, sent Mr. Tracy an e-mail requesting an answer to the complaint. (CP 135, 173, 328, and 480.) Mr. McDermott did not receive any response to this e-mail. (CP 135 and 329.)

On August 16, 2012, Ms. Ha moved for an order of default against Signal Electric due to its failure to answer the complaint. (CP 64-67, 100, 135, and 329.) The motion was served on all parties, including Signal Electric, and it was noted for hearing on August 24. (CP 64-67, 100, 135, 175, 329, and 482.)

On August 24, 2012—the date the motion for default was scheduled to be heard—Mr. Tracy sent the following e-mail to Mr. McDermott:

Did the Insurance Company ever show up in this case. We sent them everything but never heard anything from them....
(CP 135, 177, 329, and 484.) Mr. Tracy sent this e-mail at 3:25 p.m. (CP 135, 177, 329, and 484.)

Although Mr. McDermott was out of the office when he received this e-mail, he responded within minutes stating "Not to my knowledge." (CP 135, 179, 329, and 486.) Mr. McDermott did not receive any reply. (CP 135 and 329.)

Mr. McDermott then forwarded Mr. Tracy's e-mail to Jeremy Bartels, a former Associate at Mr. McDermott's office, with a note stating "[s]ee below and talk to him before default pls." (CP 135, 181, 329, and 488.) Accordingly, at approximately 4:00 p.m. that afternoon, Mr. Bartels called Mr. Tracy and left him a voicemail stating that neither he nor Mr. McDermott had heard from the insurance company, and that the motion for default was scheduled for hearing that very day. (CP 130-31, 135-36, and 329.) Neither Mr. Bartels nor Mr. McDermott received any response to this voicemail or any further inquiries regarding the motion for default. (CP 131, 136, and 329.)

On August 27, 2012, the trial court signed an order granting Ms. Ha's motion for default. (CP 74-75, 183-86, and 490-93.) The order of default was entered on August 28, 2012. (CP 74-75, 183-86, and 490-93.)

F. Ms. Ha Served the Order of Default on All Parties

Ms. Ha's counsel received the order of default on or about September 4, 2012 and promptly served it on all other parties. (CP 100, 136, 188, 329, and 495.) Mr. Tracy received the order of default on September 5, 2012. (CP 100, 136, 188, 329, and 495.) Signal Electric, however, did nothing in response. (CP 136 and 330.) Signal Electric and its counsel took no steps to set aside or otherwise address the order of default. They just ignored it. (CP 136 and 330.)

G. Dismissal of Ms. Mars, the Showbox, and the City of Seattle

On November 20, 2012, Ms. Ha filed a Motion for Partial Voluntary Dismissal Under CR 41(a)(1)(B) seeking to voluntarily dismiss her claims against Ms. Mars, the Showbox, and the City of Seattle. (CP 77-80, 100, 136, and 330.) On December 3, 2012, the trial court granted that motion. (CP 84-87, 100, 136, 190-93, 330, and 497-500.) Accordingly, Signal Electric is the only remaining defendant in this lawsuit. (CP 84-87, 100, 136, 190-93, 330, and 497-500.)

H. Default Judgment

On January 11, 2013, Ms. Ha moved for entry of a default judgment. (CP 104-18 and 330.) The trial court subsequently entered a default judgment in the amount of \$2,199,501.86. (CP 90-92 and 93-103.)

On January 29, 2013, Ms. Ha forwarded the default judgment to Mr. Tracy. (CP 330.) On February 25, 2013, Signal Electric's insurance company informed Ms. Ha that it was appointing additional counsel for Signal Electric. (CP 330.) On April 3, 2013, Signal Electric's new

attorneys entered a notice of appearance. (CP 214-15.) On April 25, 2013, Signal Electric was prepared to file a motion to vacate the default, but Signal Electric postponed its filing until May 2, 2013 to accommodate an extension requested by Ms. Ha. (CP 216-27 and 231.)

I. Motion to Vacate

Signal Electric moved to vacate the default on three grounds. (CP 216-27.) First, Signal Electric argued that the default was void under CR 60(b)(5) due to lack of personal jurisdiction because Ms. Ha failed to perfect service of process. (CP 216-27.) Signal Electric asserted that it did not authorize Mr. Tracy to accept service of process on its behalf in this litigation. (CP 216-27.)

Second, Signal Electric argued that the default should be vacated under CR 60(b)(1) because Signal Electric had a defense to Ms. Ha's claims; Signal Electric's failure to answer was due to mistake, inadvertence, surprise, and/or excusable neglect; Signal Electric acted with due diligence in moving to vacate; and Ms. Ha would not suffer substantial hardship if the order of default and the default judgment were vacated. (CP 216-27.)

Third, Signal Electric argued that the default should be vacated under CR 60(b)(11) because it resulted in manifest injustice. (CP 216-27.)

The trial court granted Signal Electric's motion without explaining the basis of its ruling and vacated both the order of default and the default judgment. (CP 541-43.) Ms. Ha appealed that ruling as a matter of right under RAP 2.2(a)(10). (CP 544-50.)

J. Court of Appeals July 14, 2014 Published Opinion

On July 14, 2014, in a published opinion, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's decision to vacate the order of default and the default judgment entered against Signal Electric. (Op. at 2.) With regard to CR 60(b)(5), the Court of Appeals ruled as follows: "Ha effected proper service of process on Signal Electric when Tracy accepted the summons and complaint. Therefore, we hold that the default judgment is not void under CR 60(b)(5) for lack of personal jurisdiction." (Op. at 9.)

With regard to CR 60(b)(1), the Court of Appeals ruled that (1) Signal Electric did not demonstrate a strong or virtually conclusive defense, but it did demonstrate a *prima facie* defense; (2) Signal Electric's failure to answer was due to mistake; (3) Signal Electric acted with due diligence in moving to vacate; and (4) Ms. Ha would not suffer substantial hardship if the order of default and the default judgment were vacated. (Op. at 12-18.)

The Court of Appeals did not reach CR 60(b)(11). (Op. at 18.) A copy of the opinion is included in Appendix 1.

K. Motion for Reconsideration

Ms. Ha filed a timely Motion for Reconsideration of the opinion on August 1, 2014. The Motion for Reconsideration was denied on August 19, 2014. A copy of the Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration is included in Appendix 2.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. This Court Should Accept Review Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) to Resolve a Conflict Between the Opinion in This Case and Several Other Opinions of the Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court

This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) because the opinion in this case conflicts with several other opinions of the Court of Appeals, Divisions One, Two, and Three, and with an opinion of the Supreme Court.

1. TMT and Brooks

The ruling by the Court of Appeals that Signal Electric's failure to answer was due to mistake conflicts with the rulings in *TMT Bear Creek Shopping Ctr., Inc. v. Petco Animal Supplies, Inc.*, 140 Wn. App. 191, 212-213, 165 P.3d 1271 (2007) and *Brooks v. University City, Inc.*, 154 Wn. App. 474, 477-80, 225 P.3d 489 (2010).

In *TMT*, Division One ruled that when a company's failure to respond to a properly served summons and complaint is due to a breakdown of "internal office procedure," it is not excusable under CR 60(b)(1). 140 Wn. App. at 212-213. In *Brooks*, Division Three clarified that when the breakdown involves a company's registered agent failing to forward process to the correct person within the company, this too does not qualify as a mistake or excusable neglect for purposes of vacating a default under CR 60(b)(1). 154 Wn. App. at 477-80. In other words, a breakdown of "internal office procedure" occurs not only when a company's internal

office employees are involved, but also when a company's agents are involved and they are acting within the scope of their authority.

In *Brooks*, the plaintiff filed a lawsuit against a company and served process on the company's registered agent. *Id.* at 477. The registered agent then mistakenly forwarded the summons and complaint to the wrong person, and failed to forward the papers to the company's legal department. *Id.* at 477-79. The company did not appear or respond, so the trial court entered a default. *Id.* The trial court subsequently denied a motion to vacate the default, ruling that there was no mistake or excusable neglect, and the Court of Appeals affirmed. *Id.* at 479-80.

The present case is factually identical to *Brooks* in all relevant respects. The Court of Appeals has already ruled that Mr. Tracy was Signal Electric's agent with express authority to accept service of process. (Op. at 9.) Thus, as in *Brooks*, Ms. Ha properly served Signal Electric's agent, who then forwarded the summons and complaint to the wrong person while failing to forward the papers to the appropriate person within the company. Therefore, the ruling in the present case is in direct conflict with the ruling in *Brooks*.

Unless the Supreme Court intervenes, there will be two published opinions in this State reaching opposite conclusions regarding the legal ramifications of an agent's failure to forward service of process to the correct person within a company, creating uncertainty for litigants and courts alike in addressing the entry and vacation of defaults.

2. Haller

In support of its decision that Signal Electric's failure to answer was due to mistake, the Court of Appeals ruled that Mr. Tracy's conduct was not binding on Signal Electric. This, however, conflicts with the Supreme Court's ruling in *Haller v. Wallis*, 89 Wn.2d 539, 547, 573 P.2d 1302 (1978).

In *Haller*, this Court addressed whether mistakes by a party's attorney could justify relief from a judgment, and the Court ruled that the incompetence or neglect of a party's own attorney is not sufficient grounds for relief from a judgment in a civil action under CR 60(b)(1). 89 Wn.2d at 547. The Court of Appeals declined to follow this precedent, and instead determined for the first time that the *Haller* rule does not apply in cases involving defaults, though the decision in *Haller* contains no such limitation.

Because the Court of Appeals declined to follow this Court's decision in *Haller*, the decision by the Court of Appeals is in direct conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court, thereby necessitating this Court's review and clarification.

As discussed below in Section VI.B *infra*, this aspect of the decision by the Court of Appeals also raises an issue of substantial public interest. Namely, whether an attorney's knowledge is imputed to his client, and whether an attorney's acts and omissions are binding on his client, for purposes of determining whether the client's failure to answer qualifies as a mistake, inadvertence, or excusable neglect when moving to vacate a

default under CR 60(b)(1). This additional basis for review is addressed in greater detail below.

3. Stevens and Gutz

The ruling by the Court of Appeals that Signal Electric acted with due diligence conflicts with the rulings in *In re Estate of Stevens*, 94 Wn. App. 20, 35, 971 P.2d 58 (1999) and *Gutz v. Johnson*, 128 Wn. App. 901, 909, 117 P.3d 390 (2005). In these two cases, Division Two ruled that a party that fails to take steps to address an order of default or a default judgment for approximately 3 months or longer has not acted with due diligence in responding to the default, and is therefore precluded from having the default vacated under CR 60(b)(1). *Stevens*, 94 Wn. App. at 35; *Gutz*, 128 Wn. App. at 909.

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