RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Oct 15, 2014, 11:25 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

### SUPREME COURT NO. 90850-8 COURT OF APPEALS NO.: 70423-1-I

E CDF RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### JUDY HA,

Petitioner,

v.

### SIGNAL ELECTRIC, INC., a Washington corporation,

Respondent.

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Steven G. Wraith, WSBA No. 17364 Of Attorneys for Signal Electric, Inc.

LEE SMART, P.S., INC. 1800 One Convention Place 701 Pike Street, Suite 1800 Seattle, WA 98101-3929 (206) 624-7990



###

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

#### **III. ARGUMENT**

RAP 13.4(b), which governs this Court's grant or denial of

petitions for review, provides:

**Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review.** A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with the decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with the decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Because Ms. Ha's Petition sets forth no grounds justifying review under

RAP 13.4(b), the Court should deny her Petition

#### A. The Court of Appeals decision affirming the trial court does not conflict with existing precedent because the trial court did not abuse its discretion in vacating Ms. Ha's default order and judgment.

Default judgments are generally disfavored. *Griggs v. Averbeck Realty, Inc.*, 92 Wn.2d 576, 581, 599 P.2d 1289 (1979). A court's principal inquiry in reviewing a default judgment is whether it is just and equitable. *Id.* at 581-82. Appellate courts review a trial court's ruling on a motion to vacate a default judgment for an abuse of discretion. *Showalter v. Wild Oats*, 124 Wn. App. 506, 510, 101 P.3d 867 (2004) (citing *In Re Estate of Stevens*, 94 Wn. App. 20, 29, 971 P.2d 58 (1999).

A ruling based on tenable grounds and within the bounds of reasonableness must be upheld. *Id.* 

# 1. The Court of Appeals correctly held that Signal Electric's failure to respond to Ms. Ha's complaint was due to Mr. Tracy's and Ms. Tieman's mistake.

The Court of Appeals ruling that Signal Electric's failure to respond to Ms. Ha's complaint was the result of Mr. Tracy's and Ms. Teiman's mistake — justifying vacation of the default order and judgment under CR 60(b)(1) — does not conflict with either *TMT Bear Creek Shopping Ctr., Inc. v. Petco Animal Supplies, Inc.,* 140 Wn. App. 191, 212-213, 165 P.3d 1271 (2007) or *Brooks v. University City, Inc.,* 154 Wn. App. 474, 477-80, 225 P.3d 489 (2010). The Court of Appeals evaluated both *TMT* and *Brooks*, differentiated them from this case, and correctly held their holdings did not mandate finding that Signal Electric's failure to respond was not a mistake.

The Court of Appeals acknowledged that *TMT* held that a failure to respond to a properly served summons and complaint is not excusable under CR 60(b)(1) when the failure results from a breakdown of **internal office procedure**. Court of Appeals Decision at 12. In *TMT*, TMT served its amended complaint and summons on Petco's registered agent, who forwarded them to a legal assistant in the office of Petco's general counsel. However, the legal assistant never notified Petco's general

counsel of the dispute, which ultimately resulted in a default order and judgment for TMT. Unlike TMT, here the mistake warranting vacation of the default order and judgment was not the result of a breakdown of internal office procedure. Neither Mr. Tracy nor Ms. Tieman was a Signal Electric employee: they were retained only for its bankruptcy proceeding. As such, their mistakes preventing Signal Electric from receiving notice of Ms. Ha's suit were not a breakdown of internal office procedures. Thus, the Court of Appeals correctly held that *TMT* did not apply.

The Court of Appeals also differentiated *Brooks* from these facts. In *Brooks*, the registered agent of the defendant, ICT, mistakenly forwarded Brooks' summons and default order to an ICT employee, albeit the wrong one. Thus, at least one ICT employee had notice of Brooks' suit against it. Unlike the defendant in *Brooks*, **no** Signal Electric employee received timely notice of Ms. Ha's suit. Thus, Signal Electric's failure to respond to Ms. Ha's suit was not a breakdown of Signal Electric's internal office procedure precluding vacation of the default order and judgment under *TMT* or *Brooks*. The Court of Appeals correctly evaluated *TMT* and *Brooks* and held they did not govern these facts.

2. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the Supreme Court's ruling in *Haller v. Wallis*, did not preclude vacation of Ms. Ha's default order and default judgment.

In an effort to obtain review by the Court, Ms. Ha attempts to

manufacture a non-existent conflict between the Court of Appeals decision in this case and the this Court's ruling in *Haller v. Wallis*, 89 Wn.2d 539, 573 P.2d 1302 (1978). The Court should not abide Ms. Ha's efforts because *Haller* involves vacation of a consent judgment and is inapplicable to default judgments.

In *Haller*, the trial court refused to vacate a consent judgment approving the settlement of a child's personal injury action after attorneys for the minor child and her mother, consented to judgment over the mother's objections. *Id.* at 540-42. The Supreme Court affirmed the trial court's refusal to vacate the consent judgment, holding that a motion to vacate a consent judgment may not be set aside for excusable neglect absent a showing of fraud or mutual mistake. *Id.* at 544, 546. In so holding, the Court distinguished vacating consent judgments from vacating default judgments, stating

"Since a judgment approving a settlement differs from a judgment by default in that both parties have appeared before the court and have sought its approval of their agreement disposing of the case, different equitable factors must be considered when the court is asked to vacate such a judgment." *Id.* at 544.

In Haller, the Court explicitly recognized that vacating consent judgments differs from vacating default judgments. That difference is borne out in subsequent case law. See Showalter v. Wild Oats, 124 Wn. App. 506, 101 P.3d 867 (2004) (affirming the vacation of a default judgment where misunderstanding between paralegal for defendant store and store manager resulted in a failure to timely respond to plaintiff's complaint). *Haller*, on its face, does not apply to default judgments. Thus, there is no conflict between the Court of Appeals decision and *Haller* warranting review by this Court.

## 3. The Court of Appeals ruling that Signal Electric acted with due diligence is consistent with existing precedent.

Ms. Ha incorrectly contends that the Court of Appeals ruling that Signal Electric acted with due diligence conflicts with *In re Estate of Stevens*, 94 Wn. App. 20, 35, 971 P.2d 58 (1999) and *Gutz v. Johnson*, 128 Wn. App. 901, 117 P.3d 390 (2005). In *Stevens*, Division Two of the Court of Appeals, **in dicta**, stated that a beneficiary to trust proceeds did not act with due diligence in bringing a motion to set aside a default order where the beneficiary: (1) received notice of the default order on July 21, 1997; (2) did not file a notice of appearance until over two months later; and (3) did not move to vacate the default order until 80 days after receiving notice. *Stevens*, 94 Wn. App. at 35. Notably, the beneficiary moving to vacate the default order had contemporaneous notice of all proceedings. *Id.* at 25-28.

In *Gutz*, Division II of the Court of Appeals cited *Stevens* for the proposition that "a party that has received notice of a default judgment and

does nothing for three months has failed to demonstrate due diligence." *Gutz*, 128 Wn. App. at 919. However, the court ultimately held the defendant exercised due diligence by appearing in the action nine days after learning of the default order and moving to vacate that order 79 days after receiving notice. *Id* at 919-20.

Here, the Court of Appeals ruling that Signal Electric exercised due diligence in moving to vacate Ms. Ha's default order and judgment is consistent with the "three-month rule" articulated in *Stevens* and *Gutz*. The first actual notice Signal Electric or its insurer received of Ms. Ha's default order and judgment was on February 25, 2013. CP 330. After receiving this notice, Signal Electric retained counsel and entered a Special Notice of Appearance roughly a month later on April 3, 2013. CP 214-15. Within 20 days, Signal Electric was prepared to file its Motion to Vacate, but postponed doing so until May 13, 2013 to accommodate Ms. Ha. CP 229. Thus, less than two months elapsed from the time Signal Electric received notice of the default order and judgment until it was prepared to move to vacate. This is substantially less time than the 80 days that elapsed in *Stevens*, the 79 days that elapsed in *Gutz*, and well under three months.

Accordingly, this Court should deny discretionary review because the Court of Appeals ruling that Signal Electric exercised due diligence in moving to vacate the default order and judgment does not conflict with

either Stevens or Gutz.

### B. Ms. Ha's petition does not involve an issue of substantial public interest.

Ms. Ha wants to correct a perceived trial court error, affirmed by

the Court of Appeals, which is not an acceptable criterion for review.

RAP 13.4(b) says nothing in its criteria about correcting isolated instances of injustice. This is because the Supreme Court, in passing upon petitions for review, is not operating as a court of error. Rather, it is functioning as the highest policy-making judicial body of the state....

The Supreme Court's view in evaluating petitions is global in nature. Consequently, the primary focus of a petition for review should be on why there is a compelling need to have the issue or issues presented decided generally. The significance of the issues must be shown to transcend the particular application of the law in question.

Wash. Appellate Prac. Deskbook § 27.11 (1998).

The fact-specific nature of cases involving default judgments militates against finding Ms. Ha's case involves an issue of substantial public interest warranting this Court's review. Moving to vacate a default judgment is akin to an equitable proceeding, in which the trial court has vast discretion to fashion a remedy that is just and reasonable given the case's facts and circumstances. *Calhoun v. Merritt*, 46 Wn. App. 616, 619, 731 P.2d 1094 (1986). "What is just and proper must be determined by the facts of each case, not by a hard and fast rule applicable to all

situations regardless of the outcome." *Akhavuz v. Moody*, 178 Wn. App. 526, 534-35, 315 P.3d 572 (2013). Here, the Court of Appeals decision affirmed the trial court's discretionary ruling on a highly fact-specific issue and is of limited precedential value to subsequent cases. As such, the Court of Appeals decision does not involve an issue of substantial public interest warranting the Court's review.

Notwithstanding the limited scope and precedential value of the Court of Appeals decision, Ms. Ha attempts to expand the decision to conjure up an issue of substantial public interest in hopes of gaining review by this Court. Ms. Ha contends the Court of Appeals decision affirming the trial court's discretionary ruling vacating Ms. Ha's default order and judgment actually stands for the proposition that "an attorney's knowledge is not imputed to his client and an attorney's acts are not binding on his client, in the context of default proceedings." Petition for Review at 17. However, the Court of Appeals decision does not state either of these propositions. Because Ms. Ha's overly-expansive interpretation of the Court of Appeals decision misconstrues the court's holding as one contrary to agency principles in an attempt to create an issue of substantial public interest, the Court should deny review.

Moreover, none of the federal cases Ms. Ha claims contradict the Court of Appeals decision in this case actually deal with vacating a default judgment for mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect under Fed. R. Civ. P. 60(b)(1), the federal counterpart to CR 60(b)(1). *In re Guzman*, BAP NO. CC-10-1013-HDMK, 2010 WL 6259994, (B.A.P. 9th Cir. 2010) and *Walsh v. Countrywide Home Loans, Inc.* 435 Fed. Appx. 607 (9th Cir. 2011) are unpublished federal decisions that do not involve default judgments. Nor does *Latshaw v. Trainer Wortham & Co., Inc.*, 452 F.3d 1097 (9th Cir. 2006) involve a default judgment.

Although *Community Dental Services v. Tani,* 282 F.3d 1164 (9th Cir. 2002), discusses vacating a default judgment, it does so under Fed. R. Civ. P. 60(b)(6), the federal "catchall" provision akin to CR 60(b)(11). The subsection under which relief is sought is important because obtaining relief under Fed. R. Civ. P. 60(b)(6) requires a showing of "extraordinary circumstances" whereas CR 60(b)(1) does not. See Latshaw, 452 F.3d at 1103; Barr v. MacGugan, 119 Wn. App. 43, 78 P.3d 660 (2003). Brown v. Cowlitz County, No. C09-5090-RBL, 2010 WL 1608876 (W.D. Wash. Apr. 19, 2010) and Lal v. State of California, 610 F.3d 518 (9th Cir. 2010) also involve parties seeking relief under Fed. R. Civ. P. 60(b)(6) and do not involve default judgments. Thus, the Court of Appeals decision in this case is not "contrary to the approach taken by the vast majority of federal courts addressing the same issue" where none of the cases Ms. Ha cited involved vacating a default judgment for mistake, or excusable neglect

under the federal counterpart to CR 60(b)(1).

In short, the Court of Appeals decision in this case does hold not hold, as Ms. Ha contends, that "an attorney's knowledge is not imputed to his client and an attorney's acts are not binding on his client, in the context of default proceedings." The Court of Appeals held that vacating the default order and judgment was not an abuse of discretion where Signal Electric, its general counsel, and its insurer did not receive timely notice of Ms. Ha's suit because of a misunderstanding between Signal Electric's bankruptcy counsel and its financial advisor. This fact specific ruling does not involve a substantial issue of public interest and is not contradicted by the federal cases Ms. Ha cited. As such, this Court should deny review.

#### **IV. CONCLUSION**

Ms. Ha has not presented grounds under RAP 13.4 on which this Court should grant review. Accordingly, Signal Electric respectfully requests that Ms. Ha's Petition for Review be denied.